IMAGE IS EVERYTHING: INFORMATION-SEEKING OF COLLEGE STUDENTS AND THE EFFECTIVENESS OF PUBLIC RELATIONS EFFORTS

A Thesis
Submitted to the Graduate Faculty
of the
North Dakota State University
of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Emily Constance Schubert

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

> Major Department: Communication

> > February 2018

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

	Seeking of College Students and the blic Relations Efforts
	Ву
Emily Consta	ance Schubert
The Supervisory Committee certifies that this	disquisition complies with North Dakota
State University's regulations and meets the a	accepted standards for the degree of
MASTER O	OF SCIENCE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:	
Dr. Justin Walden	
Chair	
Dr. Catherine Kingsley-Westerman	
Dr. Thomas Wahl	
Approved:	
04.04.2018	Dr. Stephenson Beck
04.04.2018	Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Organizations are continually searching for the most effective ways to distribute information and gain referrals from consumers. This study sought to find out how consumers seek information about an organization and how this impacts their views on the organization and advocacy intentions. The findings from this research conclude that views on the organization were positively impacted by individuals who identified as passive information seekers, more so than the active information-seekers. Passive information-seeking also had a higher association with advocacy than the, still positively associated, active information-seekers. Moreover, the results indicated that the most effective public relationship indicator on advocacy was that of personal commitment and anthropomorphism. Therefore, concluding that organizations would be best served by appealing passively on social media to individuals about the humanistic qualities and level of personal commitment their organization has shown to customers.

Keywords: Organizational, Communication, Public Relations, Social Media, Information-Seeking

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to recognize her thesis committee Dr. Justin Walden, Dr. Catherine Kingsley-Westerman, and Dr. Thomas Wahl of North Dakota State University as well as Dr. Nan Yu, University of Central Florida, Dr. Emory Stephen Daniel of Appalachian State University and Dr. Keri Stephens of the University of Texas at Austin for helping guide her through the initial thought process and encouraging the pursuit of organizational communication.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
Impression Management	5
Social Media	8
Information-Seeking Through Social Media	10
Advocacy	12
METHODS	16
Procedures	16
Participants	16
Measures	17
RESULTS	19
DISCUSSION	21
PRACTITIONER RECOMMENDATIONS	24
LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	28
CONCLUSION	30
REFERENCES	31
APPENDIX A. EXPANDED ORGANIZATION-PUBLIC RELATIONSHIP SCALE	46
APPENDIX B. INFORMATION-SEEKING SCALE	47
APPENDIX C. ADVOCACY SCALE	48
APPENDIX D. DEMOGRAPHICS	49
APPENDIX E. PREDICTORS OF PUBLIC RELATIONS SCORE	50
APPENDIX F. PUBLIC RELATIONS INDICATORS AS INDICATORS OF ADVOCACY	51

APPENDIX G. PREDICTORS OF PUBLIC RELATIONS SCORE AND ADVOCACY 5

INTRODUCTION

When universities are accepting students, they of course, want to make sure they are recruiting the students that they truly want to attend their institution. Post-secondary institutions are increasing the amounts they spend on social media and their efforts on those platforms (Vasquez, 2017). These universities are trying to find the best practices to guide their public relations strategies in order to build and maintain the relationships they desire with their students (Wisely & Jorgenson, 2000). On the other side of that relationship students are seeking out information on the institutions they are thinking of attending (Wisely & Jorgenson, 2000).

Present research relating information-seeking to public relations efforts and the effect on advocacy has shown that universities have increased social media efforts to target potential students and created advertisement campaigns specifically for recruitment to draw them to the university website (Wisely & Jorgenson, 2000). Universities are fighting for their students and spending increasing amounts of money on the tools they use to recruit, specifically, social media campaigns (Vasquez, 2017). Vasquez (2017) states that universities are using student admission application information for Custom Targeting Advertisements via social media.

The thought process from this point can lead practitioners down a slippery slope of how to best approach their audience and manage the image of the organization. A continual debate of the public relations best practices has been discussed in a vast collection of offices, conferences and online forums. A quick internet search has dozens of articles claiming that they have the "Top PR Trends for 2017," courtesy of Crenshaw Communications (2017), and this is one of many. However, within the articles the common trend is more of a definition of public relations rather than suggestions for how businesses can change their behaviors. The following research

breaks down just that, how an organization is perceived and what are the most successful ways to enhance the public relationship and increase advocacy.

Post-secondary institutions are increasing their efforts to engage with the incoming student population, creating hashtags and maintaining or redoing their website (Wisely & Jorgenson, 2000). They do their best to get information out and manage the impressions they make with potential educational consumers (Wisely & Jorgenson, 2000). Impression management is a key component of recruitment, in a broad sense.

Research in public relations links the basics facets of interpersonal relationship communication theory with organization-public relationship research (Coombs, 2001; Ledingham, Bruning, Thomlison & Lesko, 1997; Waters, Tindall & Morton, 2010). Bruning and Ledingham (1999) suggest that organization-public relationships are multi-dimensional. Further research indicates the development of phases within those relationships (Bruning & Ledingham, 2002) and that the relationships will function in a different way than personal relationships (Bruning & Ledingham, 1998). Relationship management has been applied in the study of community (Ledingham & Bruning, 2000) and business to business (Bruning & Ledingham, 2000a) relations. Relationships will remain the center of public relations (Coombs, 2001). Models that are based within interpersonal communication are an excellent resource for the understanding, predication and management of organization and stakeholder relationships (Coombs, 2001). An organization provides its consumers with information via social media and other outlets, the audience absorbs this information and makes choices based off it; which is in short, the organization's reputation (Coombs, 2001).

This study seeks to understand how passive and active information-seeking through social media impacts public perception of an organization. Passive information seeking can be

defined as an individual receiving information without requesting it (Huotari & Wilson, 2001). Whereas, active information-seeking can be defined as the pull of information or request for it to be provided (Allen & Wilson, 2003; Edmunds & Morris, 2000). It will go on to study the effect on the willingness of individuals to recommend the organization based on the organizations' public relationship efforts. Organizations, regardless of their industry, are using social media to create relationships with their consumers (Kelleher & Miller 2009; Smith, 2010). The following study's purpose is to assist institutions in finding the best avenues to reach their desired audiences and how to distribute information. Depending on the audience the best practices may be to continually push information to a passive audience, or to find ways to engage with an audience actively searching for information. The implications of this study are to advise organizations based on how their consumers are seeking information and the effects of the information that is disseminated on public perception and the consumers' willingness to recommend that organization to another individual. This study answers these questions of organizations through the lens of a university of higher education's organizational-public relationship with its students.

LITERATURE REVIEW

It is widely known that public relations is about building and maintaining a relationship between an organization and its stakeholders (Broom et. al., 1997). The approach of relationshipbuilding within the field of public relations has demanded that scholars rethink the roles, expectations, and needs of stakeholders and members of the community in which the organization is embedded (Broom et. al., 1997; Bruning & Lambe, 2008). Public relations is a key component of impression management and organizational communication (Broom et. al., 1997; Bruning & Lambe, 2008). Organizations use these tools to manage stakeholder views and help to determine the way information will be disseminated. The public relations' indicators of anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community involvement and the comparison of alternatives (Bruning and Galloway, 2003) must be singular in definition and understood for the purpose of this research. The public relations indicators overall measure the quality of the relationship between stakeholders (consumers/customers) and the organization but can be examined individually as well. Their significance can determine where the organization should be increasing their efforts or where they are failing and should change tactics. Therefore, the following definitions will be used as defined by Bruning and Galloway (2003).

When individuals assign human-like qualities to a non-human entity the concept is defined as *anthropomorphic* (Bruning & Galloway, 2003). Bruning and Galloway (2003, pg. 315) define the indicator of *professional benefit and expectations* as whether or not respondents will expect the organizations to "engage in actions that are responsible and provide benefit to the public[s]" that they serve and the expectations of what the organization should be doing compared to what the organization actually does. *Personal commitment* is key, as it can be

defined as individual's desire to maintain a long and consistent relationship (Bruning & Galloway, 2003; Li-Ting, Tsung-Chieh & Cheng-Kiang, 2007; Morgan & Hunt, 1994).

Community improvement can be defined as the business not only having a relationship within the community but improving it according to respondents (Bruning & Galloway, 2003). Comparison of alternatives can be defined as the ability of the current post-secondary education provider fulfilling the needs of the participant compared to how they feel about other alternatives (Bruning & Galloway, 2003).

The public relationship indicators are an important facet of managing what the consumer sees and perceives as appropriate behaviors for the organization. Consumers often make these judgements based on the public relations efforts of an organization (Coombs, 2001). The organization uses its public relations strategy to determine what information is distributed to consumers, managing their impressions by putting their best foot forward and highlighting their positive traits. The consumers then absorb this information and form opinions on the organization based on what they read, see, or hear, most of which stems from the information the organization's public relations strategists selected to be released (Coombs, 2001; Turnley & Bolino, 2001).

Impression Management

Pertinent to public relations and the way that the public views an organization, it is critical to discuss the theory of impression management. People care about how others view them and the opinions that others form about them; this stands true for organizations as well (Bolino, Long & Turnley, 2016; Leary, 1995; Leary & Kowalski, 1990). Self-presentation is critical to organizational success and survival. It is in an organization's best interest to be liked and perceived as an organization that will do their best by their stakeholders. Impression

management is an important component of public relationships because it can have broad implications for both the individuals and the larger organization to which they belong (Bolino, Long & Turnley, 2016; Bolino et al., 2008). Often the study of impression management focuses on the specifics of the theory, ingratiation, self-promotion, or the use of it in a narrow scenario (e.g., Gordon, 1996; Ellis et al., 2002).

Impression management has been somewhat varied among scholars, but for the purposes of this study it can be considered an attempt to create a new or ideal outward image of an organization (Bruning & Lambe, 2008). The theory of impression management stems from the work of Goffman (1959) who reasoned that individuals can manage their expressions to influence how others will respond to those expressions. This process has been seen in social media, and the perception that others have of an individual is based not on interactions but on the shared expressions (Fieseler & Ranzini, 2015). The process can be a conscious and strategic choice, or a subconscious side-effect of other choices (Jones & Pittman, 1982). Impression management can be defined as the attempt to control the impression that others formulate about an individual or organization (Rosenfeld, Giacalone & Riordan, 1995).

Occasionally, the process receives a negative connotation since it can be seen as manipulative or that the organization is creating a false visage for their stakeholders (Leary & Kowalski, 1990; Rosenfield, 1997). Jones and Pittman (1982) have defined five tactics of impression management: ingratiation (to be seen as likeable), self-promotion (taking credit to be seen as capable and competent), exemplification (looking busy to be viewed as dedicated) intimidation (menacing), and supplication (to appear needed). However, if there is already an established view of competence, liking and dedication it would be more likely to be perceived as natural and beneficial behavior using ingratiation and self-promotion as impression management

tactics (Turnley & Bolino, 2001). When using each of these, caution must be taken to not come on too strong to avoid appearing self-righteous.

Research in impression management affirms the idea that individuals will craft what they believe is the desired image for the role they are taking on (Turnley & Bolino, 2001). It is critical that those looking to utilize impression management play to their strengths and highlight what traits they naturally possess to avoid being seen as fake (Bolino, Long & Turnley, 2016; Leary, 1995). This is imperative since the impressions stakeholders form about an organization can lead directly to their development of corporate image (Spear, 2017).

Studies have shown that companies will often implement impression management practices to manage the stakeholder perception of the organization as well as the evaluations of the organization (Mishina, Block & Mannor, 2012). Spear and Roper (2013) found that there were links between the story elements of corporate impression management behaviors and the indication of the story influence on audiences, indicating that stories can influence audiences and build the corporate reputation.

Corporations cannot control their reputation directly. Impression management is critical to building the desired positive image, which over time can become the corporate reputation (Abratt, 1989; Ingenhoff & Fuhrer, 2010; Cornelissen, Christensen & Kinuthia, 2012; Iglesias & Bonet, 2012; Otubanjo, 2012 Spear, 2017). Corporate reputation has been defined as: "a stakeholder's overall evaluation of an organization over time" (Abratt & Kleyn, 2012). The corporation is typically seen as responsible for maintaining their public image and ensuring they are behaving in way that would provide a positive image.

The perception of an institution's goods or services is critical when evaluating the overall effect of the organization on consumers and in the end its vitality within the community

(Büyükdoğan *et al.*, 2017). Meaning, it is imperative to continually monitor the public relationship of an organization within the public it serves (Bruning & Galloway, 2003; Büyükdoğan *et al.*, 2017). The information the company or organization selects is released to the public, and the viewers shape their opinions off those messages (Bruning & Galloway, 2003).

Social Media

Social media is a tool that can be used to create a connection with organizational stakeholders. Organizations use it as a form of impression management (Wagner, 2017). They control what is posted and what/who they are connected to publicly. It also provides a way to rapidly respond to situations where the organization's image is not presented in a positive light (Wagner, 2017). Social media is altering the way that companies conduct business and how they are perceived and interact with their consumers (Pew Research Center, 2017). Organizations are increasingly using social media as an approach to enhance their public relationship with their consumers (Pew Research Center, 2017). Even within the past decade, a survey of 399 U.S. and European businesses indicated that 88.2 percent of those polled had begun to undertake social media initiatives, and nearly half of those businesses had fully integrated a social media campaign into their communication strategy (eMarketer, 2015; Insights Consulting, 2011). In the United States alone, social media presence among adults has increased from 24 to 81 percent from 2008 to 2017 (Statista, 2017; Von Muehlan & Ohno-Machado, 2012; Bernhardt & Alber, 2014; Ventola, 2014). Newer communication technologies have increased the possibilities for how people seek out and obtain information (Fergie, Hilton & Hunt, 2016; Westerman, Spence & Heide, 2013). People use social media to gather information, share their stories, express concerns and obtain understanding of situations (Fergie et al., 2016; Fox, 2011). The newer

forms of social media provide the time-stamping feature and allow users to see whether or not information is current and can therefore be trusted (Westerman et al., 2013).

Social media has the potential to be a great benefit to organizations if used effectively. Most often we see it used for the spread of information, offering educational resources for current product uses, to hasten the process at which the information is delivered to the public in emergencies situations, to encourage community action, conduct research and to observe public perception of current issues (Chew & Eysenbach, 2009; Frost & Massagli, 2008; Merchant, Elmer & Lurie, 2011; Thackeray & Hunter, 2010; Sutton, 2010; Vance et al., 2009). Presently over 67 percent of Americans use social media to hear about businesses and self-reported using it as a source of information (Wagner, 2017). It provides an opportunity to facilitate engagement with community members and decrease uncertainty about current topics (Li & Bernhoff, 2008; Safko & Brake, 2009). Studies have shown that organizations are not capitalizing on the social media's full potential (Thackery et al., 2012, Wylie et al., 2016).

Passive Information-Seeking and Active Information-Seeking. Information-seeking has been studied by communication scholars dating back to the 1940s as studied by Krikelas (1983). Passive information-seeking has been defined as an individual receiving information without previously requesting it (Huotari & Wilson, 2001). With this type of information-seeking the sender runs the risk of overloading the receiver, since there was no request for information therefore no limitations on the amount being sent or its relevance to the receiver (Edmunds & Morris, 2000). Active information-seeking sits on the other side of the spectrum, being defined as; the pull of information or request for it to be provided (Allen & Wilson, 2003; Edmunds & Morris, 2000). Information-seeking is how searching and sharing, encompass the attitudes and collective behaviors of the information seekers (Kim & Grunig, 2011; Kim & Ni, 2013;

McKeever, 2013). Social media has been traditionally used as a source of information to be actively pursued, individuals searching for the information and actively *pulling* it when required, however it has pivoted to become a source for information to be *pushed* towards users in a passive fashion (Allen & Wilson, 2003; Edmunds & Morris, 2000).

Information-Seeking Through Social Media

Information-seeking is referred to as "planned scanning of the environment for messages about a specified topic," (Grunig, 1997, pg. 9). Social media has become increasingly popular as a source of information for the millennial generation, (Duggan & Brenner, 2013; Lenhart et al., 2010) specifically individuals entering college and seeking out information on post-secondary institutions. Individuals seeking information about specific topics are most commonly driven by a goal and use all manners of systems when searching for answers (Wilson, 2000).

Studies of social networking sites have shown that 89 percent of online users of social networking sites are between the ages of 18 and 29 (Brenner & Smith, 2013). Individuals are increasingly using social networks as sources of information and news (Smith, Rainie & Zickhur, 2011; Kim, Sin & Tsai, 2014). Information-seeking is used to understand how individuals find information, including how students search for information on their choices for higher education (Krikelas, 1983).

Student 'shop' for colleges through a process of information-seeking on social media to aid their decision making (Kushin & Yamamoto, 2010). The product is their education, they need to find out what exactly they are paying for and if it is worth what they will be spending (Wisely & Jorgenson, 2000). Social media is a significant driver of sales and is used as a way to engage with the consumer (eMarketer, 2015; Ogilvy & Mather 2011). When consumers are searching for a particular good or service to spend their money on they turn to information-

seeking tactics. Most recently those tactics have been used and via social media (Palmatier et al., 2007). These consumers will use social media to determine the relationship they want with a business, and the strength of that relationship (Palmatier et al., 2007).

As businesses work to create relationships on social media, it is critical to their success to determine the most profitable avenues that their public relations strategists should pursue. Active and passive information-seeking will both have an impact on the overall relationship between the consumer and organization (Clayman, Roter, Wissow & Bandeen-Roche, 2005). This study seeks to understand which information-seeking behavior will have a greater impact on the public relationship. The results will assist organization's public relations strategists in creating campaigns that will generate the greatest results in positively influencing the overall relationship (using the scale as one indicator) between consumers and the organization. The resulting research question examines the relationship as a whole, therefore demanding the testing of the Expanded Organizational–Public Relationship Scale (Bruning & Galloway, 2003) as a single variable; in this case, looking at the relationship between students and the university they attend.

University students use social media most commonly, for social interaction and information-seeking (Constantinides & Zinck Stagno, 2011). For higher education institutions the building of relationship between the institution and its students is positively related to long-term loyalty and the overall relationship (McAlexander & Koenig, 2001). In the last decade universities are beginning to shed the aversion to marketing strategies, the thoughts that it would undermine student quality are slowly being put out of the minds of university public relations strategists (Anderson, 2008). With the implementation of government deregulation and an increase in competition universities are realizing that they must market themselves successfully

to compete in national and global markets for higher education (Hemsley-Brown & Oplatka, 2006; Jongbloed, 2003; Maringe, 2006).

This poses the thought: do students use social media to find information about their potential colleges or are they simply observers of the information that colleges put out, and how does the type of information-seeking impact the public relationship?

RQ1: How will passive vs. active information-seeking about a university by its students on social media impact the overall public relations score (indicated by: anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternatives)?

Advocacy

Advocacy within the realm of organizational public relations relates to how the organization is perceived as being socially responsible and the effect that has on consumer behavior, specifically their willingness to recommend the organization to another person. Social media provides the masses with the opportunity to express themselves and directly link it back to an organization (Smith, Men & Al-Sinan, 2014; Ozdemir, 2012). The knowledge that their opinions can have an effect drives their willingness to express themselves, in all capacities, good and bad (Smith, Men & Al-Sinan, 2014; Ozdemir, 2012). The end goal of an organization, retaining and increasing their consumers, depends on their impression management (Mishina, Block & Mannor, 2012) and consumers' information-seeking habits (Palmatier et al., 2007).

Advocacy is a critical and measurable effect of a quality public relations campaign, stemming from the organization's connection to stakeholders and their willingness to say or spread positive things about that organization (Briones, Kuch, Liu, & Jin, 2011; Cho, Schweickart & Haase, 2014; DiStaso, McCorkindale, & Wright, 2011; Men & Tsai, 2012;

Ozdemir, 2012; Saffer, Sommerfeldt, & Taylor, 2013). Social media is the new word of mouth for spreading information between individuals (Hearst, 2018, Sommerfeldt, & Taylor, 2013). There is a large audience of individuals and the content author is likely to spread the information since they know they will be heard (Briones, Kuch, Liu, & Jin, 2011; Smith, Men & Al-Sinan, 2014; Ozdemir, 2012; Saffer, Sommerfeldt, & Taylor, 2013), but the question remains of how an organization might influence what that individual might say. Organizations use public relations strategies to engage with their consumers (Bruning & Lambe, 2008), those strategies determine how they will manage the impression they are sending out (Mishina, Block & Mannor, 2012), the reception of that message will then influence the willingness of the reader to recommend that organization (Smith, Men & Al-Sinan, 2014; Ozdemir, 2012).

In short, will someone working towards a degree at a university, continue to do so and recommend someone else to attend as well. People want to help organizations with whom they feel a strong attachment (Fullerton, 2005). Research has shown a positive effect on commitment to consumer willingness to act as a reference for an organization (Fullerton, 2003; Harrison-Walker, 2001).

Since the industry of public relations is ever-changing along-side technology so are the best practices for the practitioners. Therein posing the thought of; what is the indicator that will be the best predictor of an individual's willingness to recommend an institution to others. As public relations strategists attempt to craft messages to their consumer audience, a campaign that creates messages that draws viewer focus back to a core value, item, or concept typically generate better results (Hearst, 2018).

As a university relationship marketing best fits their need to maintain relationships with current students and recruit new students as well (Helgesen, 2008; Klassen, 2002). For higher

education institutions relationship marketing involves building strong relationships between the university, current students, and future students, with the quality of these relationships being positively related to overall customer loyalty (McAlexander & Koenig, 2001).

This begs the question of what should that campaign focus on, or what aspect of public relations will generate the highest impact on consumers. The public relationship indicators were separated to be tested individually, to find which indicator would have the highest impact on the consumer's willingness to recommend, determining which areas would be best for practitioners to focus their efforts. This therefore leads to the following research question of how the public relationship indicators affect the advocacy of student-educational-consumers:

RQ₂: Which of the public relationship indicators including: anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternatives (scores) best predicts the participants' willingness to recommend their university as a source of higher education?

The final query is that of the information-seeking style's effect on advocacy. How does an individual find the information? Additionally, are they simply absorbing it passively, or searching for it and actively pursuing the information about the institution, and that behavior's impact of their willingness to recommend the organization?

Research has demonstrated that more active information-seeking provides results in individuals that are more satisfied with the services they received compared to their passive information-seeking counterparts (Politi & Street, 2011; Roter & Hall, 2011). Similar research has shown that individuals who are active participants in information-seeking are more likely to advocate, and make recommendations in favor of an organization, decreasing apprehension about an organization (Clayman, et al., 2005; Venetis, Robinson, & Kearney, 2013). Individuals

who seek information in a passive way, are more likely to behave the same way regarding advocacy, they will provide information if prompted, but generally, will not advocate without being asked (Pálsdóttir, 2008). When individuals are engaged on social media platforms with an organization and are willing to seek out more information, they build a relationship faster and of a higher quality than individuals who are disengaged with the content (Lee & Kwak, 2012). When the relationship is of a high quality then individuals are more likely to advocate for an organization (Fan & Gordon, 2014). This shows that individuals who are engaged with posts on social media are more likely talk about an organization (Fan & Gordon, 2014). Engagement has been positively related to the recollection of information at a later time (Junco, Heiberger, & Loken, 2011). Thus, justifying the following hypotheses related to information-seeking and advocacy:

 H_{1A} : Active information-seeking is positively associated with advocacy.

 H_{IB} : Passive information-seeking will be negatively associated with advocacy

METHODS

Procedures

Upon receiving approval from the researcher's university Institutional Review Board, a survey consisting of forty-three questions, taking an estimated time of nine minutes to complete, was administered via campus Research Participation ListServ email to 12,862 students of a small Midwestern university, students were required to be of above the age of 18 and having been or currently be a student of that university. The respondents were asked to read and confirm the informed consent then were prompted to complete the electronic survey via Qualtrics. No incentives were offered for the participants to take the survey. The original email request for participants was sent out to the ListServ during the second week of January, 2018, with a reminder email sent five days after the initial request. Through the participating survey distribution tool no respondent could complete the survey twice.

Participants

Eight-hundred thirty-seven students participated, ranging from undergraduate to graduate students, generating a response rate of 6.5 percent. After reviewing the participants who had completed all the necessary items in the survey the sample was reduced to 781 participants (n = 781). Those participants who had completed enough survey measures (approximately 75 percent of the measures) for their information to be compared or tested were kept. Incomplete responses that did not have enough information to be tested and compared were removed. The sample included men (n = 324, 41.4 percent), women (n = 430, 55.1 percent), respondents who chose not to identify with a gender (n = 17, 2.2 percent), and respondents had no response (n = 10, 1.3 percent). Participants between the ages of 18 through 67 ($M_{age} = 22.83$), with 21.1 percent self-identifying as first-generation college students (n = 164), and 26.8 percent self-identifying as

coming from a family with multiple generations of [University] alumni (n = 209). Education levels were distributed amongst college freshmen (n = 166, 21.3 percent), sophomores (n = 130, 16.6 percent), juniors (n = 136, 17.4 percent), seniors (n = 114, 14.6 percent), undergraduates in their fifth year or more (n = 56, 7.2 percent), graduate students (n = 168, 21.5 percent), and respondents had no response (n = 11, 1.4 percent). While the graduate student sample was small, the data collected was included for the purpose of researching a wider range of consumers of higher education. Ethnicity of the sample included Caucasian (n = 670, 85.8 percent), African American (n = 12, 1.5 percent), American Indian or Alaskan Native (n = 15, 1.9 percent), Asian (n = 31, 4.0 percent), Middle-Eastern or Arabic (n = 3, 0.4 percent), Hispanic or Latino (n = 13, 1.7 percent), and those who selected Other (n = 22, 2.9 percent), and respondents had no response (n = 15, 1.9 percent). A variety of questions were reverse-coded for effectiveness and efficacy of responses.

Measures

Information-Seeking Behaviors. Respondents were asked about their information-seeking behaviors regarding their university using an 11-item Information-Seeking Scale measuring Active Information-Seeking (six questions) and Passive Information-Seeking (five questions) developed by Kelly, Eldredge, Dalton and Miller (2014). The participants were asked questions regarding the way they find information and if they seek it out it out versus passively observing it. The scale was originally developed for Heath-Information and questions were therefore adapted to meet the needs of this study. For example: "I have done research on ____" was changed to: "I have done research on [University]." Two questions (one in passive-information seeking, one in active information-seeking) were reverse-coded for effectiveness and

efficacy of responses. The scale's overall Cronbach's Alpha was a = 0.92, with a Cronbach's Alpha of a = 0.94 for passive information-seeking and a = 0.90 for active information-seeking.

Public relationship indicators. Respondents' anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternative scores were recorded using the 23-item Bruning and Galloway (2003) Expanded Organization–Public Relationship Scale. Each item was measured on a 7-point Likert scale anchored with the responses ranging from 1–strongly disagree to 7–strongly agree. Six questions (one in each individual scale) were reverse-coded for effectiveness and efficacy of responses. The Cronbach's Alpha for the anthropomorphism (6-item scale) was a = 0.89, Cronbach's Alpha for the professional benefit/expectation (6-item scale) was a = 0.91, a = 0.92 for personal commitment (4-item scale), a = 0.88 for community improvement (4-item scale) and comparison of alternatives (3-item scale) had a coefficient of a = 0.55. The scale as a whole had a score of, a = 0.83.

Advocacy. Respondents' willingness to recommend their university was measured from a 3-item scale derived from Fullerton (2005) on advocacy. Each item was measured on a 7-point Likert scale with responses ranging from 1–strongly disagree to 7–strongly agree. One question was cross coded for effectiveness and efficacy of responses. The wording of the questions was minimally altered to exchange "Gap" to the name of the university in question (with a Cronbach's alpha of a = 0.96). An example question would be "I will say positive things about Gap to other people," changed to: "I will say positive things about [University] to other people."

RESULTS

The first research questions of: "How will passive vs. active information-seeking about a university by its students on social media impact the overall public relationship (indicated by: anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternatives)?" was presented to determine how students seek information and how that impacts the public relationship.

A multiple linear regression was employed to examine the level of information-seeking (passive, active) as a predictor of overall public relations score (anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternatives). The scale was used as one variable to determine the overall quality of the public relationship between organization and consumer. Together passive and active information-seeking accounted for a significant portion of variance in the individuals' perceptions of the public relations efforts of their univeristy, F(2,775) = 88.68, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.18$, p < .001. Specifically, the overall public relations score was positively predicted by how passively individuals sought information ($\beta = .37$, p < .001) more so than the active information-seekers ($\beta = .085$, p < .05) (See Appendix E).

The second research question of: "Which of the public relationship indicators including: anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternatives (scores) best predicts the participants' willingness to recommend their university as a source of higher education?" was posed to determine the level of advocacy of the students and the effect of the public relations indicators on the advocacy.

A multiple linear regression was employed to examine the public relations indicators: anthropomorphism, professional benefit/expectation, personal commitment, community improvement and comparison of alternatives as predictors of advocacy (See Appendix F).

Together the public relations indicators accounted for a significant portion of variance in individuals' willingness to recommend their university (advocacy), F (5, 773) = 401.97, Adjusted R^2 = 0.72, p < .001. Specifically, the willingness to recommend (advocacy) was positively predicted by the indicators of anthropomorphism (β = 0.21, p < .001), professional benefit and expectations (β = 0.13, p < .01), personal commitment (β = 0.46, p < .001), community involvement (β = 0.07, p < .05), and the comparison of alternatives (β = 0.13, p < .001) (See Appendix G). Therefore, demonstrating that the indicator of personal commitment is the best predictor of individuals' willingness to recommend their university as a source of higher education.

Correlations were employed to examine the passive and active information-seeking and their association with advocacy of their university. Consistent with the hypothesis (H_{1A}) presented, active information-seeking was significantly positively associated with respondents' ratings of their willingness to recommend their university, r = 0.28, p < .01. However, contrary to what was predicted with the second hypothesis (H_{1B}), passive information-seeking was also positively associated with respondents' willingness to recommend their university, r = 0.45, p < .01, and at a higher level of association. Therefore, passive information-seekers may be more willing to recommend their university as a source of higher education than the active-information seekers.

DISCUSSION

The primary goal of this study was to examine the relationship between an organization's public relations efforts, viewers' information seeking behaviors and the impact both those have on the participants' willingness to recommend the organization to another person (advocacy). Research thus far has been confined to public relations efforts and advocacy and information-seeking and advocacy. This research has developed a combination of all three and the relationship these factors have on one another, therein providing the potential to enhance theory. It is the hope to bring clarity and shed some light on where efforts can be targeted to increase the benefits of an organization's public relationship strategies and its effects on customer referrals and retention.

In response to the first research question, regarding information-seeking and its impact on the overall public relationship, there was a positive relationship between the passive information-seekers and the active information-seekers and their overall public relationship scoring of the organization in question. Both types of information-seeking will have a positive impact if individuals are absorbing or seeking content about the organization. However, the passive information-seekers had a greater impact than the active information-seekers on the public relationship, which suggests that organizations would do well to focus their public relations strategies towards the passive users, instead of depending on active information-seekers to find information about the organization. For example, they should employ general advertisements, promoted posts, and information, rather than components that require users to find more information, would be best to reach this audience. That is not to say that an organization should only be catering to passive information-seekers. Since both types of information-seeking had a

positive impact on the overall relationship, organizations should still have both avenues available, but should be placing a higher emphasis on the more passive style.

Secondly, the research question of the impact of the public relations indicators on advocacy was employed to find the area of public relations efforts that would provide the highest return of recommendations. Overall, each of the public relations indicators accounted for a significant amount of variance and were positively correlated with the participants' willingness to recommend their university to another individual. However, if an organization were looking to focus their efforts on a specific avenue of public relations to promote customer retention and referrals the data points toward the indicator of personal commitment or anthropomorphism as the most influential indicators relating to advocacy. Other indicators had a positive impact on advocacy, but results demonstrated that the most reliable and beneficial to focus on would be the indicators of anthropomorphism and personal commitment.

Lastly, the hypotheses regarding the relationship between information-seeking and the participants' willingness to recommend their university to someone else were examined. Consistent with " H_{IA} : Active information-seeking is positively associated with advocacy," results showed a positive correlation between active information seeking and advocacy. Inconsistent with the hypothesis (H_{IB}) that was proposed; " H_{IB} : Passive information-seeking will be negatively associated with advocacy," the results of the correlation showed a positive association between passive information-seeking and advocacy. This, although inconsistent with the hypothesis, is in alignment with the previous research questions' results. Passive information-seeking had a more significant correlation with the overall public relations (RQ_I), which may be related to the data showing the higher association between passive information-seeking and advocacy.

It is plausible to conclude that passive information seeking behavior among consumers will have a positive impact on their advocacy and over all perception of an organization's public relations efforts. This study shows meaningful and applicable interpretations through multiple linear regressions that demonstrated the perceived public relations efforts and their effect on advocacy and the type of information-seeking's effect on the perception of public relations and advocacy. This indicates that an organization may want to focus its efforts on demonstrating its level of *anthropomorphism* and *personal commitment* to its students in a way that will be seen passively on social media.

PRACTITIONER RECOMMENDATIONS

From this research conclusions can be drawn on how organizations should be handling their public relations and how altering them could produce a higher overall public image resulting in an increase in customer referrals. Grunig and Grunig's (1998) four models of public relations are excellent starting points. The four models defined by Grunig and Grunig (1998) include: Public Information; the neutral dissemination of information about an organization rather than advocating for that organization, *Press Agentry*; using public relations as a way to gain publicity for an organization, Two-Way Symmetrical; creating a mutual understanding of an organization between it and the publics it affects, and Two-Way Asymmetrical; using public relations to manage conflict, change attitudes and influence the behavior of the stakeholders of an organization. However, the afore-mentioned results of this study point to one in particular, the Public Information Model, which suggests that information is distributed using channels available but does not require *Press Agentry*, or reporters to write about the organization. A Two-Way Asymmetrical model, influencing the public and persuading them has proven effective. This research also suggests that a Two-Way Symmetrical model is another effective way to build a quality relationship with the stakeholders. All the models have their uses and it is recommended that each be used based on the goal the organization seeks to accomplish (Reagan, Sumner & Hill, 1992)

The passive information-seekers impacting the results of the pubic relationship scores suggest that the public relations efforts should be used to push information out instead of pull individuals in to find information on the organization website, embodying the *Public Information Model*. The research points towards providing information in a way that requires the least amount of work on the consumers' behalf as possible, presenting information in a way that will

not require further information-seeking behavior such as actively finding the organization on social media. This leads to proposition one for the benefit of the practitioner:

Proposition #1: It is recommended that organizations use social media to send out information to users that have not requested it and are not looking to find out more information than is presented, specifically, the passive information-seekers when looking to promote to overall public relationship with the consumer.

In 2005, the Department of Health launched a campaign that sought to encourage the conversation between healthcare professionals and their patients (PR Week, 2005). This concept rings out loud and clear in the results of this research. A key way to enhance the overall public relationship with an organization's stakeholders and consumers is to highlight its personal commitment to the customer. An organization seeking to enhance that would simply distribute information that demonstrates that their consumers have been committed for a long period of time. This aligns with Cialdini's (2009) theories of influence, reinforcing that social proof; or demonstrating that others are using an organization or its goods and services and are enjoying them. These results take it one step further and show that when using social proof then the organization should be highlighting that these consumers have been with the organization for an extended period of time. Using a university setting as an example, the social media messaging should feature posts from current customers or to invoke feelings of long-term commitments, such as "Bob has been a [university member/supporter] for 57 years and has never missed a game," or "Even after graduation you are still a [university member], it isn't just for four years, it is a way of life." Following this, proposition two, tells the organization to use a Two-Way Symmetrical Model inviting the relationship, and showing customers that others have been with the organization for an extended period of time;

Proposition #2: It is recommended that organizations highlight to consumers the way the organization has a personal commitment to its customers, and have current customers share positive information about their relationship with the organization, when seeking to bolster the public relationship with its consumers.

Based on the results of this study the indicator of anthropomorphism, the assigning of human-like traits to an entity or organization (Bruning & Galloway 2003), also had a high impact on the relationship between the organization and its consumers. Consumers want to feel like the organization is there for them and will help them if they need (Entrepreneur, 2014). These traits can stem from having good customer service to when consumers make a purchase they feel as though the organization genuinely cares about the relationship that is forming (Entrepreneur, 2014). This indicates that organizations should employ the use of a *Two-Way Symmetrical Model* to demonstrate the organization's humanistic qualities.

Proposition #3: It is recommended that organizations highlight to consumers the way the organization has human like traits, or is: caring, considerate, and personable, when seeking to bolster the public relationship with its consumers.

Lastly, the results indicated that the passive information-seekers are more likely to be the individuals involved in referrals (advocacy). Meaning, that the social media campaign should once again focus on the *Public-Information Model* limiting the action required from the audience. When users need to interact to find more information or are asked to visit the page of the organization the results have a much lower (3.36 percent) click-through rate, or percentage of individuals who saw the advertisement and chose to actively seek out information about that organization (Smart Insights, 2018). Whereas the individuals who are willing to simply observe an advertisement (64.14 percent) is far greater than those willing to seek more information out.

Thus, proposition four suggests that the organization should use advertisements and promotional material that requires little to no effort on the part of the viewer:

Proposition #4: It is recommended that organizations use tactics to appeal to passive information-seekers when attempting to promote customer referrals.

These propositions are based on the research completed in this study as guides for how organizations can use this information and implement it within their current public relations strategies. They are designed to assist in the increase and enhancement of overall organizations public relationships and the increase in referrals by current customers.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

As with all studies, there are limitations. Specifically, the four areas of error; sampling errors, non-coverage error, non-response error, and measurement error are most common, as described by MacDonald, Newburn-Cook Schopflocher and Richter (2009) can be applied to surveys distributed via email as well. Non-respondent error could be the largest culprit of errors within the data presented here.

There are benefits and drawbacks of using an online survey instrument. Benefits including the anonymity of the respondents, can be a limitation to researchers. The respondents may simply be clicking through the responses to complete the survey instead of providing meaningful responses, due to the fact that the responses cannot be traced to a specific individual and creating a possibility for inaccuracies. While this study was conducted at the beginning of a semester, it was also conducted within one week of a significant athletic success of the university's football team. That may have had a positive impact upon the overall perception of the public relations indicators as well as participants' willingness to recommend the university to others. There is potential for differing results if the survey was conducted at a different time during the semester, perhaps during an examination period, or if the athletic event had resulted in a loss rather than a win.

A final limitation regarding this research can be that the study cannot establish causation. The question of "why?" lingers on the air around the results. Future research would have the potential to investigate at a deeper level and discover the potential influential variables the would affect the reasoning behind why participants felt positively toward the university. The greater concepts can be broadly applied but there is the limitation that a university's recruitment

strategy, although similar, is not the exact same as influencing the purchase of a product (Kokemuller, 2007).

To unveil further communication phenomena there could be comparative research completed at different times during the semester to find a more accurate reading of the overall perception of the public relations efforts, the effects of information-seeking on them and their effects on advocacy. There is also the opportunity of understanding the effect of if a student is a legacy of the university or is a first-generation college student in the future. In future studies, there is a potential to compare the behaviors and relationships of undergraduate students and their university and the relationship between graduate students and their university. There is a large potential for future research which includes the possibility for determining why each variable and what specifically might impact that. If this study were to be repeated there could be the opportunity for a mixed-measures research including qualitative interviews with students to potentially understand the specifics regarding why the results occurred.

CONCLUSION

This study's findings should be interpreted alongside its limitations. While this study was able to derive meaning, the nature of this examination was exploratory and aimed to a specific communication phenomenon to provide guidelines for future research. Bearing this in mind, the results show that organizations' efforts to build upon their public relationship with their consumers can be altered by using the public relationship indicator of personal commitment. If the organization demonstrates the level at which they are committed to their consumers and do so in ways that would be seen passively via social media this study's data determined that they would most likely have an overall higher public relations score as well as an increased chance of consumer advocacy. For example, if the organization was creating advertisements on social media they would not want to ask for actions, i.e. likes/favorites, comments, or shares/retweets. Rather they would want to simply showcase how their current consumers have been committed to their organization for an extended period of time, but in a way, that simply appears in the social media feed of the consumer. This can help organizations restructure the way they handle their social media, and their public relations efforts on those channels. It has the potential to enhance recruitment and understand how college students are influenced on social media.

REFERENCES

- Abratt, R. (1989). "A new approach to the corporate image management process." *Journal of Marketing Management 5* (1):63–76. doi:10.1080/0267257x.1989.9964088
- Anderson, G. (2008). Mapping academic resistance in the managerial university. *Organization*, 15(2), 251–270.
- Andriof, J. and Waddock, S. (2002). Unfolding stakeholder engagement. In J. Andriof, S. Waddock, B. Husted, and S. Sutherland Rahman (Eds.), *Unfolding Stakeholder Thinking:*Theory, Responsibility and Engagement. Sheffield: Greenleaf Publishing, 19-42.
- Barrick M. R., Shaffer J.A. and DeGrassi S. W. (2009). What you see may not be what you get: relationships among self-presentation tactics and ratings of interview and job performance. *Journal of Applied. Psychology* 94(6), 1394–411
- Bernoff, J., & Li, C. (2008). Harnessing the power of the oh-so-social web. *MIT Sloan* management review, 49(3), 36.
- Bernhardt, M., Alber, J. and Gold, R. S. (2014). A social media primer for professionals: Digital do's and don'ts. *Health Promotion Practioner*. *15*(2), 168–172.
- Bolino, M., Long, D. and Turnley, W. (2016). Impression management in organizations: Critical questions, answers, and areas for future research. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, (3)377-406.
- Bolino M. C., Kacmar K. M., Turnley W. H. and Gilstrap J. B. (2008). A multi-level review of impression management motives and behaviors. *Journal of Management*. *34*(6):1080–109

- Briones, R. L., Kuch, B., Liu, B. F., & Jin, Y. (2011). Keeping up with the digital age: How the American Red Cross uses social media to build relationships. *Public Relations Review*, 37(1), 37–43
- Broom, G. M., Casey, S. and Ritchey, J. (1997) Toward a concept and theory of organization— Public relationships. *Journal of Public Relations Research* 9(2), 83 – 98.
- Bruning, S. D., DeMiglio, P. A. and Embry, K. (2006). Mutual benefit as outcome indicator: Factors influencing perceptions of benefit in organization–public relationships. *Public Relations Review*. 32, 33-40.
- Bruning, S. D. and Galloway, T. (2003). Expanding the organization–public relationship scale: Exploring the role that structural and personal commitment play in organization–public relationships. *Public Relations Review*, 29(3), 309-319.
- Bruning, S. D., and Ledingham, J. A. (1998). Public relations and consumer decisions:

 Effectively managing the relationships that impact consumer behavior. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the *Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communication*, Baltimore, MD.
- Bruning, S. D., and Ledingham, J. A. (1999). Relationships between organizations and publics:

 Development of a multi-dimensional organization-public relationship scale. *Public Relations Review*, 25(2), 157-170.
- Bruning, S. D., and Ledingham, J. A. (2000a). Organization and key public relation-ships:

 Testing the influence of the relationship dimensions in a business to business context. In

 J. A. Ledingham and S. D. Bruning (Eds.), *Relationship management: A relational*approach to the study and practice of public relations (pp. 159–173). Mahwah, NJ:

 Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Bruning, S. D., and Ledingham, J. A. (2000b). Perceptions of relationships and evaluations of satisfaction: An exploration of interaction. *Public Relations Review*, 26(1), 85–95.
- Bruning, S. D. and Ledingham, J. A. (2002). Identifying the communication behaviors and interaction pattern of agency-client relationships in development and decline. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 8(2), 21–34.
- Bruning, S. D., and Lambe, K. E. (2008). Linking worldview, relationship attitudes, and behavioral outcomes: Implications for the study and practice of public relations. *Journal of Promotion Management*, *14*(3-4), 139-151.
- Büyükdoğan, B., Geddk, H., Dereld, Y., and Tanyeld, Ö. (2017). The impact of service quality and public relations on patient satisfaction in hospitals. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*, 60(186-197), 1304-0278.
- Chakravorti, S. (2009). Extending customer relationship management to value chain partners for competitive advantage. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, 8, 299 312.
- Chen, I. J. and Popovich, K. (2003). Understanding customer relationship management(CRM): People, process and technology. *Business Process Management Journal*, 9(5), 672–688.
- Chew, C. and Eysenbach, G. (2009). Pandemics in the age of Twitter: content analysis of tweets during the H1N1 outbreak. *PLoS One* 2010, *5*(11).
- Cho, M., Schweickart, T., & Haase, A. (2014). Public engagement with nonprofit organizations on Facebook. *Public Relations Review*, 40, 565–567.
- Cialdini, Robert. Influence: The Psychology of Persuasion. Harper Collins, 2009.
- Clayman, M. L., Roter, D., Wissow, L. S., & Bandeen-Roche, K. (2005). Autonomy-related behaviors of patient companions and their effect on decision-making activity in geriatric

- primary care visits. *Social Science & Medicine*, 60, 1583–1591. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.004
- Constantinides, E., & Zinck Stagno, M. C. (2011). Potential of the social media as instruments of higher education marketing: a segmentation study. *Journal of marketing for higher education*, 21(1), 7-24.
- Coombs, W. T. (2001). Interpersonal communication and public relations. In R. L. Heath (Ed.), *Handbook of public relations* (pp. 105–114). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cornelissen, J., L. T. Christensen, and K. Kinuthia. 2012. "Corporate brands and identity:

 Developing stronger theory and a call for shifting the debate." *European Journal of Marketing* 46(7/8):1093–1102. doi:10.1108/03090561211230214
- Crenshaw, D. (2017, January 24). The Top PR Trends For 2017. Retrieved January 28, 2018, from https://crenshawcomm.com/top-pr-trends-2017/
- Cutlip, S. M., Center, A. H. and Broom, G. M. (1994) *Effective public relations*, 7th ed., (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall) p. 2.
- DiStaso, M. W., McCorkindale, T., & Wright, D. K. (2011). How public relations executives perceive and measure the impact of social media in organizations. *Public Relations Review*, *37*(4), 325–328
- Edmunds, A., & Morris, A. (2000). The problem of information overload in business organizations: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Information Management*, 20, 17–28.
- Ellis, A. P. J., West, B. J., Ryan, A. M. and DeShon, R. P. (2002). The use of impression management tactics in structured interviews: A function of question type? *Journal of Applied. Psychology.* 87(6), 1200–8

- eMarketer (2015), "Social Network Ad Spending to Hit \$23.68 Billion Worldwide in 2015,"

 (April 15), (accessed October 28, 2017), [available at

 http://www.emarketer.com/Article/Social- Network-Ad-Spending-Hit-2368-Billion-Worldwide-2015/ 1012357#sthash.lBpDFlob.dpuf].
- Fan, W., & Gordon, M. D. (2014). The power of social media analytics. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(6), 74-81.
- Fergie, G., Hilton, S., & Hunt, K. (2016). Young adults' experiences of seeking online information about diabetes and mental health in the age of social media. *Health Expectations*, 19(6), 1324-1335. doi:10.1111/hex.12430
- Ferguson, M. A. (1984). Building theory in public relations: Interorganizational relationships.

 Paper presented at the annual meeting of the *Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communication*, Gainesville, FL, August, 1984.
- Fieseler, C. and Ranzini, G. (2015). The networked communications manager: A typology of managerial social media impression management tactics. *Corporate*Communications, 20(4), 500-517. doi:10.1108/CCIJ-02-2015-0009
- Fox, S. (2011). The social life of health information. Pew Research Center's Internet & American Life Project: Washington, D.C.
- Frost J. H. and Massagli, M. P. (2008). Social uses of personal health information within PatientsLikeMe, an online patient community: what can happen when patients have access to one another's data. *JIMR*, *10*(3). Fullerton, G. (2005). The Impact of Brand Commitment on Loyalty to Retail Service Brands. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences* (*Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*), *22*(2), 97-110.

- Fullerton, G. (2003). When does commitment lead to loyalty? *Journal of Service Research*, 5 (4), 333-344.
- Fullerton, G. (2005). The Impact of Brand Commitment on Loyalty to Retail Service

 Brands. Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences (Canadian Journal of

 Administrative Sciences), 22(2), 97-110.
- Goffman, E. (1959). The Presentation of Self in. Butler, Bodies that Matter.
- Gordon, R. A. (1996). Impact of ingratiation on judgments and evaluations: a meta-analytic investigation. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 71(1), 54–70
- Grunig, J. E. (1993). Image and Substance: From Symbolic to Behavioral Relationships, *Public Relations Review 19*, 121-139.
- Grunig, J. E. (1997). A situational theory of publics: conceptual history, recent challenges and new research. In *Public Relations Research: An International Perspective*, Moss D, MacManus T, Vercic D (eds). International Thomson Business Press: London; 3–48.
- Grunig, J. E. & Grunig, L. A. (19980. The relationship between public relations and marketing in excellent organizations: Evidence from IABC study. *Journal of Marketing Communicatins*, *4*, 141-162
- Grunig, J. E., Hunt, T. (1984), *Managing Public Relations* (6th ed.), Orlando, FL: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- Harrison-Walker, J. (2001). The measurement of word-of- mouth communication and an investigation of service quality and customer commitment as potential antecedents. *Journal of Service Research*, 4, 60-75.

- Hearst Newspaper (Ed.). (2018). Three Characteristics of a Public Relations Campaign.

 Retrieved from http://smallbusiness.chron.com/three-characteristics-public-relations-campaign-24956.html
- Helgesen, Ø. (2008). Marketing for higher education: A relationship marketing approach. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 18(1), 50/78.
- Higgins, C. A., Judge, T. A. and Ferris, G. R. (2003). Influence tactics and work outcomes: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 24(1), 89–106
- Huotari, M.-L., & Wilson, T.D. (2001). Determining organizational information needs: The critical success factors approach. *Information Research*, *6*(3), Paper No. 108. Retrieved December 3, 2017, from http://informationr.net/ir/6-3/paper108.html
- Iglesias, O. and E. Bonet. (2012). "Persuasive brand management: How managers can influence brand meaning when they are losing control over it." *Journal of Organizational Change Management* 25(2):251–264. doi:10.1108/09534811211213937
- Ingenhoff, D. and T. Fuhrer. (2010). "Positioning and differentiation by using brand personality attributes." *Corporate Communications: An International Journal 15*(1):83–101. doi:10.1108/13563281011016859
- Insites Consulting (2011). "Social integration survey," unpublished data set, Ghent, Belgium.
- Jongbloed, B. (2003). Marketisation in higher education, clark's triangle and the essential ingredients of markets. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 57(2), 110–135.
- Jones, E. E. and Pittman T. (1982). Toward a general theory of strategic self-presentation. In *Psychological Perspectives on the Self*, ed. J Suls, pp. 231–62. Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum Assoc.

- Junco, R., Heiberger, G., & Loken, E. (2011). The effect of Twitter on college student engagement and grades. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 27(2), 119-132.
- Kelleher, T., & Miller, B. M. (2006). Organizational blogs and the human voice: Relational strategies and relational outcomes. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 11(2)
- Kelly, S., Eldredge, S. A., Dalton, E. D., & Miller, L. E. (2014). Health-Information Behavior:
 An Initial Validity Portfolio for Active and Passive Measures. *Communication Research Reports*, 31(2), 171-182. doi:10.1080/08824096.2014.907145
- Kim, J. N. and Grunig, J. E. (2011). Problem solving and communicative action: A situational theory of problem solving. *Journal of Communication* (61)120–149. DOI:10.1111/j.1460-2466.2010.01529.x.
- Kim, J. N. and Ni, L. (2013). Two types of public relations problems and integrating formative and evaluative research: A review of research programs within the behavioral, strategic management paradigm. *Journal of Public Relations Research* (25)1–29. DOI:10.1080/1062726X.2012.723276.
- Kim, K., Sin, S. J., and Tsai, T. (2014). Individual Differences in Social Media Use for Information-seeking. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 40(2), 171-178.
- Klassen, M.L. (2002). Relationship marketing on the Internet: The case of top- and lower-ranked US universities and colleges. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 9(2), 81–85.
- Kokemuller, N. (2007). Difference Between Product and Institutional Promotion. Retrieved

 January 28, 2018, from https://yourbusiness.azcentral.com/difference-between-product-institutional-promotion-4331.html
- Krikelas, J. (1983). Information-seeking behavior: Patterns and concepts. *Drexel library* quarterly, 19(2), 5-20.

- Kumar, V. et al. (2003) Antecedents and consequences of relationship intention: implications for transaction and relationship marketing, *Industrial Marketing Management*, 32 (667–676).
- Kushin, M. J., & Yamamoto, M. (2010). Did Social Media Really Matter? College Students' Use of Online Media and Political Decision Making in the 2008 Election. *Mass*Communication & Society, 13(5), 608-630. doi:10.1080/15205436.2010.516863
- Leary, M. R. (1995). Self-Presentation: Impression Management and Interpersonal Behavior.

 Madison, WI: Brown & Benchmark
- Leary, M. R. and Kowalski, R. M. (1990). Impression management: a literature review and two-component model. *Psychology Bulletin*. 107 (1), 34–47
- Ledingham, J. A. and Bruning, S. D. (1998). Relationship management in public relations:

 Dimensions of an organization-public relationship. *Public Relations Review*, 24(1), 55-65.
- Ledingham, J. A. and Bruning, S. D. (2000). A longitudinal study of organization-public relationship dimensions: Defining the role of communication in the practice of relationship management. In J. A. Ledingham and S. D. Bruning (Eds.), *Relationship management: A relational approach to the study and practice of public relations* (pp. 55–69). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Ledingham, J. A., Bruning, S., Thomlison, T. D., & Lesko, C. (1997). The applicability of interpersonal relationship dimensions to an organizational context: Toward a theory of relational loyalty a qualitative approach. *Journal of Organizational Culture*,

 Communications and Conflict, 1(1), 23.
- Lee, G., & Kwak, Y. H. (2012). An open government maturity model for social media-based public engagement. *Government Information Quarterly*, 29(4), 492-503.

- Li-Ting, H., Tsung-Chieh, C. and Cheng-Kiang, F. (2007). The mediating effect of commitment on customer loyalty towards e-brokerages: an enhanced investment model. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, *18*(7), 751-770. doi:10.1080/14783360701349765
- Maak, T. (2007). Responsible leadership, stakeholder engagement, and the emergence of social capital. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 74(4), 329–343.
- MacDonald, S. E., Newburn-Cook, C. V., Schopflocher, D., & Richter, S. (2009). Addressing nonresponse bias in postal surveys: special feature: method. *Public Health Nursing*, 26, 90–105.
- Maringe, F. (2006). University and course choice: Implications for positioning, recruitment and marketing. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 20(6), 466–479.
- McAlexander, J.H., & Koenig, H.F. (2001). University Experiences, the Student-College Relationship, and Alumni Support. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 10(3), 21–43.
- McKeever, B. W. (2013). From awareness to advocacy: understanding nonprofit communication, participation, and support. *Journal of Public Relations Research* (25) 307–328. DOI:10.1080/1062726x.2013.806868.
- McNab, C. (2009). What social media offers to health professionals and citizens. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 87, 566–566.
- Men, L. R., & Tsai, W. S. (2012). How companies cultivate relationships with publics on social network sites: Evidence from China and the United States. *Public Relations Review*, *38*, 723–730.
- Merchant R. M., Elmer, S. and Lurie, N. (2011). Integrating social media into emergency-preparedness efforts. N Eng. *Journal of Medicine*. *365*(4):289-291.

- Mishina, Y., Block, E. S. and Mannor, M. J. (2012). The path dependence of organizational reputation: How social judgment influences assessments of capability and character. Strategic Management Journal 33(5):459–77. doi:10.1002/smj.958
- Nitzan, I. and Libai, B. (2011). Societal effects on customer retention. *Journal of Marketing*, 75, 24 38.
- Ogilvy & Mather (2011), New Study Suggests Integrated Social Media Drives Sales. Press release. PR Newswire.
- Otubanjo, O. (2012). "Embedding theory in corporate identity through the social construction lens." *International Journal of Business and Management* 7(22):62–75. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n22p62
- Ozdemir, B. P. (2012). Social media as a tool for online advocacy campaigns: Greenpeace Mediterranean's anti-genetically engineered food campaign in Turkey. *Global Media Journal—Canadian Edition*, 5(2), 23–39.
- Palmatier, R. W., Scheer, L. K. and Steenkamp, J. B. E. M. (2007). Customer loyalty to whom?

 Managing the benefits and risks of salesperson-owned loyalty. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 44(2), 185–199.
- Parvatiyar, A. and Sheth, J. N. (2001). Customer relationship management: Emerging practice, process and discipline. *Journal of Economic & Social Research*, 3(2), 1 34.
- Pálsdóttir, Á. (2008). Information behaviour, health self-efficacy beliefs and health behaviour in Icelanders' everyday life. *Information Research: An International Electronic Journal*, 13(1).
- Peppard, J. (2000) Customer relationship management (CRM) in financial services, *European Management Journal*, 18(3), 312–327.

- Pew Research Center. (2017, September 05). Social media sites as pathways to news. Retrieved January 28, 2018, from http://www.journalism.org/2017/09/07/news-use-across-social-media-platforms-2017/pi_17-08-23_socialmediaupdate_0-04/#
- Politi, M., & Street, R. L. (2011). Patient centered communication during collaborative decision making. In T. L. Thompson, R. L. Parrott, & J. F. Nussbaum (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of health communication* (2nd ed., pp. 399–413). New York, NY: Routledge
- PR WEEK. (2005). DoH to promote 'personal touch'. Retrieved January 28, 2018, from https://www.prweek.com/article/523985/doh-promote-personal-touch
- Reagan, J., Sumner, J., Hill, S. (1992). Using Grunig's indices to differentiate organization public relations functions. *Journalism Quarterly*, 69(1), 181 187.
- Rosenfeld, P. (1997). Impression management, fairness, and the employment interview. *Journal of Business. Ethics* 16(8), 801–8
- Rosenfeld, P., Giacalone, R. A. and Riordan, C. A. (1995). *Impression Management in Organizations: Theory, Measurement, Practice*. London: Routledge.
- Roter, D. L., & Hall, J. A. (2011). How medical interaction shapes and reflects the physician-patient relationship. In T. L. Thompson, R. L. Parrott, & J. F. Nussbaum (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of health communication* (2nd ed., pp. 55–68). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Saffer, A. J., Sommerfeldt, E. J., & Taylor, M. (2013). The effects of organizational twitter interactivity on organization–public relationships. *Public Relations Review*, 39, 213–215.
- Safko, J. and Brake, D. K. (2009). The social media bible: Hoboken NJ: Wiley.

- Smart Insights. (2018). Average display advertising clickthrough rates. Retrieved from: https://www.smartinsights.com/internet-advertising/internet-advertising-analytics/display-advertising-clickthrough-rates/
- Smith, B. G. (2010). Socially distributing public relations: Twitter, Haiti, and interactivity in social media. *Public Relations Review*, 36(4), 329-335.
- Smith, B. G., Men, R. L., & Al-Sinan, R. (2015). Tweeting Taksim communication power and social media advocacy in the Taksim square protests. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *50*, 499-507.
- Spear, S. (2017). Impression Management Activity in Vision, Mission, and Values Statements: A Comparison of Commercial and Charitable Organizations. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 47(2), 159-175. doi:10.1080/00208825.2017.1256165
- Spear, S., and S. Roper. (2013). "Using corporate stories to build the corporate brand: An impression management perspective." *Journal of Product and Brand Management* 22(7):491–501. doi:10.1108/jpbm-09-2013-0387
- Statista. (2017). U.S. population with a social media profile 2017. Retrieved January 28, 2018, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/273476/percentage-of-us-population-with-a-social-network-profile/
- Sutter, J. D. (2010). Texts, maps battle Haiti cholera outbreak. Retrieved October, 31, 2010 http://www.cnn.com/2010/TECH/innovation/10/29/haiti.cholera.tech/index.html?ht=Sbin
- Sutton, J. N. (2010). Twittering Tennessee: distributed networks and collaboration following a technological disaster. Proceedings of the 7th International ISCRAM Conference: May 2010; Seattle, WA.

- Thackeray, R. and Hunter, M. (2010). Use of empowering youth: Use of technology in advocacy to affect social change. *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*. *15*(4):577-591.
- Turnley, W.H. and Bolino, M.C. (2001). Achieving desired images while avoiding undesired images: exploring the role of self-monitoring in impression management. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 86(2), 351–60
- Vance, K., Howe, W. and Dellavale, R. P. (2009) Social internet sites as a source of public health information. *Dermatology Clinic*. 27(2):133-136.
- Vasquez, M. (2017, October 27). Colleges Use Facebook Ads to Target Applicants, Parents, and Lawmakers. *Chronicle of Higher Education*. p. 1.
- Venetis, M. K., Robinson, J. D., & Kearney, T. (2013). Consulting with a surgeon before breast cancer surgery: Patient question asking and satisfaction. *Journal of Health Communication*, 18, 943–959. doi:10.1080/10810730.2012.757391
- Ventola, C. L. (2014). Social Media and Health Care Professionals: Benefits, Risks, and Best Practices. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, *39*(7), 491–520.
- Von Muhlen, M. and Ohno-Machado, L. (2012) Reviewing social media use by clinicians. *Journal of American Medicine Information Association*. 19(5):777–781.
- Wagner, K. (2017, September 07). Two-thirds of Americans are now getting news from social media (Recode, Ed.). Retrieved January 28, 2018, from https://www.recode.net/2017/9/7/16270900/social-media-news-americans-facebook-twitter
- Waters, R. D., Tindall, N. T., & Morton, T. S. (2010). Media catching and the journalist–public relations practitioner relationship: How social media are changing the practice of media relations. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 22(3), 241-264.

- Watts, P. and Holme, R. (1999). *Meeting Changing Expectations. Corporate Social Responsibility*. Geneva: WBCSD. Available from http://www.wbcsd.org.
- Westerman, D., Spence, P. and Heide, B. (2013). Social media as information source: Recency of updates and credibility of information. *Journal of Computer Mediated*Communication. 19(2), 171-183.
- Wilson, T. D. (2000). Human information behavior. *Informing Science* (3) 49–56.
- Wisely, N. and Jorgensen, M. (2000). Retaining students through social interaction: Special assignment residence halls. *Journal of College Admission*, 167, 16–28.
- Whetten, D. A., Rands, G. and Godfrey, P. (2002). What are the responsibilities of business to society? In A. Pettigrew, H. Thomas, and R. Whittington (Eds.), *Handbook of Strategy and Management*. London: Sage, 373-408.
- Wylie, J., Lucas, B., Carlson, J., Kitchens, B., Kozay, B. and Zaki, M. (2016). An examination of not-for-profit stakeholder networks for relationship management: A small-scale analysis on social media. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(10): e0163914, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163914

APPENDIX A. EXPANDED ORGANIZATION-PUBLIC RELATIONSHIP SCALE

Please check in the blank based on what you feel or perceive in each statement. 7- point scale means as follows:

1=Strongly Disagree 2=Disagree 3=Slightly Disagree 4=Undecided (neutral) 5=Slightly Agree 6=Agree 7=Strongly Agree

NOTE: One question in each scale will be reversed for reverse-coding and ensuring accurate readings.

(Bruning & Galloway, 2003)

Anthropomorphism:

- 1. North Dakota State University is open about its plans for the future.
- 2. I feel that I can trust North Dakota State University to do what it says it will do.
- 3. North Dakota State University shares its plans for the future with students.
- 4. North Dakota State University does not understand me as a student.
- 5. North Dakota State University seems to be the kind of organization that invests in its students.
- 6. I think that North Dakota State University takes into account my convenience in all of our interactions.

Professional Benefit/Expectation:

- 7. North Dakota State University is not involved in activities that promote the welfare of its students.
- 8. North Dakota State University does not act in a socially responsible manner.
- 9. North Dakota State University is aware of what I want as a student.
- 10. North Dakota State University does not see my interests and its interests as the same.
- 11. I think North Dakota State University is not honest in its dealings with students.
- 12. North Dakota State University is not willing to devote resources to maintain its relationship with me.

Personal Commitment:

- 13. I am committed to maintaining my relationship with North Dakota State University.
- 14. I feel very strongly linked to North Dakota State University.
- 15. I do not want my relationship with North Dakota State University to continue for a long time.
- 16. I feel I would lose a great deal if I were to switch universities.

Community Improvement

- 17. I feel that North Dakota State University supports events that are of interest to its students.
- 18. I think that North Dakota State University does not strives to improve the communities of its students.
- 19. I think that North Dakota State University actively plays a role in the communities it
- 20. North Dakota State University demonstrates interest in me as a person.

Comparison of Alternatives:

- 21. The alternative universities are not excellent educational institutions.
- 22. I think other universities could fulfill my needs.
- 23. I would not feel very upset if North Dakota State University were no longer my school.

APPENDIX B. INFORMATION-SEEKING SCALE

(Kelly, Eldredge, Dalton & Miller, 2014)

Active Information Seeking

- 1. I have asked North Dakota State University for information via social media.
- 2. I have searched for information on about North Dakota State University on social media.
- 3. I have not spoken to friends about North Dakota State University on social media.
- 4. I have watched for news stories about North Dakota State University on social media.
- 5. I have done research on North Dakota State University on social media.
- 6. I have looked for new information about North Dakota State University on social media.

Passive Information Seeking

- 1. I listen when I hear news about North Dakota State University.
- 2. I read stories about North Dakota State University on social media when I come across them
- 3. I pay attention when I see information about North Dakota State University on social media.
- 4. I do not think about the information I find about North Dakota State University on social media.
- 5. Information about North Dakota State University catches my attention.

APPENDIX C. ADVOCACY SCALE

Advocacy (Fullerton, 2005) Questions

- 1. I will say positive things about North Dakota State University to other people.
- 2. I will not recommend North Dakota State University to someone who seeks my advice.
- 3. I will encourage friends and relatives to select North Dakota State University for their post-secondary education.

APPENDIX D. DEMOGRAPHICS

- 1. Age
- 2. Gender
 - a. Male
 - b. Female
 - c. Other
- 3. Education level
 - a. Freshman
 - b. Sophomore
 - c. Junior
 - d. Senior
 - e. Undergraduate in 5th year or higher
- 4. Ethnicity
 - a. Caucasian
 - b. African-American
 - c. Native-American or Alaskan Native
 - d. Asian
 - e. Middle-Eastern or Arab
 - f. Hispanic or Latino
 - g. Other
- 5. First generation college student (are you the first in your family to attend college?)
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- 6. 2nd or greater generation of North Dakota State University attendance (has your family attended North Dakota State University)
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

APPENDIX E. PREDICTORS OF PUBLIC RELATIONS SCORE

β

Active Information Seeking	0.085*
Passive Information Seeking	0.373***
* < 05 ** < 01 *** < 001	

p* < .05, *p* <.01, ****p* <.001

APPENDIX F. PUBLIC RELATIONS INDICATORS AS INDICATORS OF ADVOCACY

	Advocacy	Anthropomorphism	Professional Benefit and Expectations	Personal Commitment	Community Improvement	Comparison of Alternatives
Advocacy	1.00	-	-	-	-	-
Anthropomorphism	0.720	1.00	-	-	-	-
Professional Benefit and Expectations	0.703	0.845	1.00	-	-	-
Personal Commitment	0.796	0.663	0.637	1.00	-	-
Community Improvement	0.700	0.793	0.778	0.692	1.00	-
Comparison of Alternatives	0.538	0.357	0.414	0.550	0.387	1.00

p < .001

APPENDIX G. PREDICTORS OF PUBLIC RELATIONS SCORE AND ADVOCACY

	β
Anthropomorphism	0.21***
Professional Benefit/Expectation	0.13**
Personal Commitment	0.46***
Community Involvement	0.07*
Comparison of Alternatives	0.13***
* <i>p</i> < .05, ** <i>p</i> <.01, *** <i>p</i> <.001	